
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, April 20, 2015

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street
Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 4 - 10

Regular PM Meeting - April 13, 2015

3. Public in Attendance

3.1 Okanagan Symphony Orchestra 11 - 22

Annual presentation to Council by Executive Director, Robert A. Barr.

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue, BL11005 (OCP14-0013) - Dr. Heather Martin Inc.
& City of Kelowna

23 - 23

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To adopt Bylaw No. 11005 in order to change the future land use designations
of the subject properties.

4.2 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue, BL11006 (Z14-0027) - Dr. Heather Martin Inc. &
City of Kelowna

24 - 24

To adopt Bylaw No. 11006 in order to rezone the subject properties.

4.3 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue, HAP14-0009 & DP14-0117 - Dr. Heather Martin 25 - 67

To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit and Development Permit for the form
and character of the proposed 3.5 storey mixed use development.

1



4.4 140 Highway 33 East & 145 Rutland Road North, DP15-0030 - Rutland Crossing
Development Ltd.

68 - 88

To consider a Development Permit application for the form and character of a
commercial development.

5. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

5.1 325 Hartman Road, BL10891 (Z13-0032) - Gary Martin Lupul 89 - 89

To adopt Bylaw No. 10891 in order to rezone the subject property.

6. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

6.1 Amendment #1 to Five Year Financial Plan, 2014-2018 90 - 93

To amend the Five Year Financial Plan as required by the Community Charter
so that it includes the authorized transfers and amendments that occurred
throughout the year.

6.2 BL11071 - Amendment No. 1 to Five Year Financial Plan, 2014-2018, Bylaw No.
10950

94 - 95

To give Bylaw No. 11071 first, second and third readings in order to amend the
Five Year Financial Plan, 2014-2018, Bylaw No. 10950.

6.3 2015 Tax Distribution Policy 96 - 120

To establish tax class ratios that will be used in the preparation of the 2015
tax rates.

6.4 Mobile Food Concession Contract - Various City Beaches & Parks 121 - 153

To enter into an exclusive mobile food concession contract with Scooter's Ice
Cream Ltd. for mobile food vending services to three (3) City of Kelowna
beaches and one (1) waterpark.

6.5 Rutland Centennial Park - Inclusive All Ages Playground Project 154 - 171

For Council to support making application to the ESDC's Enabling Accessibility
in Communities Grant program for a new inclusive playground at Rutland
Centennial Park.

6.6 Transit Bus Advertising Franchise Award 172 - 174

To award the on-bus Transit Advertising Contract for Five (5) years, with an
option to renew for an additional three (3) years.

2



7. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

7.1 BL11075 - Amendment No. 1 to Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund
Expenditure Bylaw, 2014

175 - 175

To adopt Bylaw No. 11075 in order to amend Development Cost Charge Reserve
Fund Expenditure, 2014, Bylaw No. 10949.

8. Mayor and Councillor Items

9. Termination

3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



 1960 – Okanagan Symphony formed 

 $1 million operating budget 

 3rd largest Symphony Orchestra in BC 

 Ranks 25th of 66 Symphonies nationally 

 May to October monthly performances 

 20 core orchestra members augmented by as 
many as 45 musicians from around BC 

 
 
 

12



 Guest Artists 
▪ Ian Parker; Quartetto Gelato 
▪ musica intima; Jonathan Chan 
▪ Fish on Five brass quintet; Melissa Wilmot 
 

 Community Connections 
▪ OSYO side-by-side; KSS Women’s Chorus; OSO Chorus 
▪ Siobhan Raupach; Randall Jakobsh 
 

 Unique Programming 
▪ Shakespeare in Love 
▪ Creation 

13



14



 Okanagan Symphony Youth Orchestra (OSYO) 
▪ Over 80 participants between the age of 10 and 20 

 
  OSO Symphony Storytime 

▪ Partner with Success By Six and The Clubhouse daycare centre 
▪ Over 250 three- to five-year-olds participated in Kelowna 

 
 OSO In-school Trios 

▪ Pilot program in Penticton which we plan to expand throughout the valley 
▪ Over 1500 students this past November 

 
 OSO School Performances (“Strings the Thing”) 

▪ 2 performances in each of our three communities 
▪ 40 young performers & total audience of over 1600 in Kelowna 

 
 OSO Family Matinee (“Your Story at the Symphony”) 

▪ Winning stories of children’s writing contest with the OSO 

15



 Ballet Kelowna 
 Bumbershoot Theatre 
 CATO 
 Chamber Music Kelowna 
 Okanagan Regional Library 
 Opera Kelowna 
 School District 23 
 Success by Six; The Clubhouse 
 Community Music Schools 

16



Ticket Sales 
45% 

Fundraising events 
4% 

Corporate & 
Individual 

15% 

Endowment 
disbursements 

5% 

other 
5% 

City of 
Kelowna 

5% 

BC Arts 
Council 

5% 

BC Gaming 
13% 

Canada Council 
3% 

Other Regional 
2% 

Government 
27% 

17



 1 full-time, 2 part-time and 2 contract 
administrative staff 

 1 full-time contract and 2 part-time contract 
artistic personnel 

 20 core musicians working under a collective 
agreement 

 Augmented by professional musicians from 
across BC and community players from the 
Okanagan Valley 

18



Orchestra 
Payroll & 

Benefits, 43% 

Other 
Artistic 

Payroll & 
Benefits, 

12% 

Admin 
Payroll & 
Benefits, 

12% 

Production, 
10% 

other 
administration, 

10% 

Marketing, 7% 

Facilites, 2.50% 

Education & 
Outreach, 

2.50% 
Fundraising, 

1% 

19



 $825,000 
▪ Total payroll and benefits for musicians, artists, production 

and administrative personnel. 
 $70,000 

▪ Approximate average cost of mounting a single concert of 3 
performances (musicians, guest artists, venues, marketing, 
transportation, accommodation, ticketing). 

 $45,000 
▪ Approximate amount City of Kelowna receives from the OSO 

in venue fees and office rent each year. 
 340 

▪ Approximate number of room nights booked in Kelowna each 
year to house our out-of-town musicians. 

20



 Introduce a new audience to the symphony 
▪ Okanagan Young Professionals events 
▪ $25 tickets for front two rows 
▪ Improve communication with UBCO and Okanagan College 

students 
 

 Expand corporate sponsorship 
▪ Returning sponsors: Deloitte, TD 
▪ New sponsors: Bannister, TELUS, Jaguar Kelowna, Sandhill, 

Tantalus 
 

 Improve individual donation appeals and stewardship 
 

 Commencing research on special programming & 
funding for Canada’s Sesquicentennial in 2017 

21



 Guest Artists 
▪ Martin Beaver, Peter Karrie, James Campbell 
▪ Ariel Barnes, David Greenberg 
▪ Melina Moore, Robert Fine 
 

 Community Connections 
▪ OSYO side-by-side; OSO adult & youth choruses 
▪ Nathan Letourneau 
 

 Unique Programming 
▪ Carmina Burana; Bergmann Piano Duo 

 

 
 

22



 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11005 
 

Official Community Plan Amendment No. OCP14-0013 – 
Dr. Heather Martin Inc. and City of Kelowna 

310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue 

 
A bylaw to amend the "Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT Map 4.1 - GENERALIZED FUTURE LAND USE of “Kelowna 2030 – Official 

Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500” be amended by changing the Generalized Future 
Land Use designation of Lot 22, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, Except Plan KAP81038 
and Lot 21, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, located on Strathcona Avenue, Kelowna, 
B.C., from the EDINST – Educational / Major Institutional designation to the HLTH – 
Health District designation; 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 29th day of September, 2014. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 21st day of October, 2014.  
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 21st day of October, 2014. 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk

 
 

 
 

 

23



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11006 
Z14-0027 – Dr. Heather Martin Inc. and City of Kelowna  

310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 22, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, Except Plan KAP81038 located 
on Strathcona Avenue, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the 
HD2 – Hospital and Heath Support Services zone and Lot 21, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 
535 located on Strathcona Avenue, Kelowna, B.C., from the P1 – Major Institutional 
zone to the HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 29th day of September, 2014. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 21st day of October, 2014. 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 21st day of October, 2014. 
 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

24



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

Date: 4/20/2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning (AW) 

Application: HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 Owner: Dr. Heather Martin 

Address: 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects 

Subject: Heritage Alteration and Development Permits  

Existing OCP Designation: Educational / Major Institutional 

Proposed OCP Designation: Health District 

Existing Zone: 
P1 – Major Institutional 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Final Adoption of Official Community Plan Amending Bylaw No. 11005 and the Zoning 
Amending Bylaw No. 11006 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Permit No. DP14-0117 and Heritage 
Alteration Permit No. HAP14-0009 for Lot 22, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535 Except Plan 
KAP81038, located at 310 Strathcona Avenue and Lot 21, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, located 
at 320 Strathcona Avenue, Kelowna B.C., subject to the following: 
 
1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general  
           accordance with Schedule "A"; 
 
2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general  
           accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule "C"; 
 
4. The applicant be required to post with the City a Landscape Performance Security deposit  
            in the form of a "Letter of Credit" in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the      
            landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; 
 
5.     Registration of a plan of subdivision at Land Titles Office to consolidate the two subject  
          properties into a single title prior to issuance of the Development Permit; 

25



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 2 

AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above noted conditions of Council’s 
approval of the Development Permit/Development Variance Permit Applications in order for the 
permits to be issued; 

 
AND FURTHER THAT this Development Permit/Development Variance Permit is valid for two (2) 
years from the date of Council approval, with no opportunity to extend. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Heritage Alteration Permit and Development Permit for the form and character of 
the proposed 3.5 storey mixed use development. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Urban Planning Staff are supportive of the proposal, as it is seen to meet the objectives and 
supporting policies of the Official Community Plan (OCP), as well as the applicable urban design 
guidelines. The application is not in keeping with the purpose of the Abbott Street & Marshall 
Street Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines, which is to maintain the existing 
single or two family residential and historical character of the area. However, the historical 
character and value of these properties has been significantly impacted by the surrounding 
institutional land uses. Staff have also long anticipated that these properties would transition 
towards their designated purpose or another form of development that supports the KGH 
Campus.  

In that regard the proposed development provides a more appropriate transition than a larger 
institutional building or parking garage would have. Specifically the project will help to transition 
from the KGH’s institutional form with its softer edge and more residential elements. The 
materials and design detail should fit well within the neighbouhood while providing important 
support services to the KGH campus. The proposed landscaping is of high quality and includes 
trees and significant groundcover around the periphery of the building. Each residential unit will 
be provided with balconies which satisfy the project’s public open space requirements and help 
animate the building. Additional open space will be provided above the under building parking 
structure.    

In summary, Staff are supportive of the proposed development as it would be the first major 
project to be completed in the vicinity of the KGH campus that would help provide additional 
support services. As noted in the applicant’s letter (attached) a number of modifications have 
occurred in an attempt to address items that were of neighbourhood concern.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject properties were designated Institutional in 1995 as part of the 1994-2013 OCP. The 
Heritage Conservation Area (HCA) was established in 1998, and the properties were single family 
residential halfway to Long Street, including what is now the Cancer Clinic. The HCA boundaries 
have not changed since they were established in 1998. At the May 29th, 2012 meeting Council 
approved rezoning 320 Strathcona Avenue to P1 – Major Institutional in order to convert the 
existing single family to a doctor’s office. The owner didn’t move forward with the project. 

At the October 21st, 2014 Public Hearing Council supported rezoning and amending the Official 
Community Plan Future Land Use to accommodate the proposed mixed use medical building 
under the HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services zone. That application currently sits at 3rd 
reading and the report and minutes are attached to this report.     

 

26



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 3 

4.2 Project Description 

The subject properties are located at the intersection of Abbott Street and Strathcona Avenue in 
the “KGH Campus”. As the subject property is located in the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation 
Area, a Heritage Alteration Permit is required for the project. Neither property is located on the 
Heritage Register. See the applicants updated Design Rationale attached at the end of the 
report. 
 
The 3.5 storey project consists of a street oriented café and a single residential unit on the 1st 

floor, two health service offices on the 2nd floor and two residential units on the top floor. 
Vehicular access is via the rear lane with the majority of the parking stalls in the under building 
parkade, 7 stalls are provided at grade from the rear lane.  Long term bicycle parking is provided 
within the parking garage and short term bicycle parking will be located on site. Brick is the 
prominent material with grey stucco and blue fabric and steel canopies.   
 
The southwest corner is the main feature of the proposal as it is the most prominent exposure 
and the anchor for the design. The building facade steps back from the street at both the first 
and third floors, this helps to break down the massing and scale of the project. The main portion 
of the building containing restaurant and health services steps back from the under-building 
parking structure with a patio. The building fronts both Strathcona Avenue and Abbott Street 
with masonry & stucco facades. The proposed project compares to the HD2 zone as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA HD2 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.2 0.95 

Height 16.5 m 12.5 m / 3.5 storeys 

Front Yard (south) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m 
1.5 m to parkade 
4.5 m to building 

Side Yard (east) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m – Building 
1.5 m to parkade 
4.5m to building 

Side Yard (west) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m – Building 
4.5 m to parkade 
4.5 m to building 

Rear Yard (north) 3.0 m 4.8 m 

Site coverage 55% 49.5% 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking 

Requirements 
29 stalls 31 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 2 stalls 
Class II: 4 stalls 

Class I: 3 stalls 
Class II: 5 stalls 

Private Open Space 100m2 220m2 

Loading Space 1 stall 1 stalls 

 

4.3 Site Context 

The properties are also located within the Abbott Street Heritage Conservation Area. The 
adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Vacant 

East P1 – Major Institutional Cancer Lodge 

South HD1 – Kelowna General Hospital Hospital 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Vacant 

27



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 4 

 

The subject properties are located along Strathcona Avenue directly adjacent to the Cancer 
Lodge and across from the Kelowna General Hospital, as shown on the map below.  

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.1.1 Urban Design Guidelines (Chapter 14) – Revitalization Development Permit Area 

Revitalization Design Guidelines 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

5.1.2 Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines (Chapter 18) 1  

 Maintain the residential and historical character of the Marshall Street and the Abbott 
Street Heritage Conservation Areas; 

 Encourage new development, additions and renovations to existing development which 
are compatible with the form and character of the existing context; 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 16 

Subject Properties 

28



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 5 

 Ensure that change to buildings and streetscapes will be undertaken in ways which offer 
continuity of the ‘sense-of-place’ for neighbours, the broader community; and 

 Provide historical interest for visitors through context sensitive development. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

 Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. 
The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit application.  

 A Hoarding permit is required and protection of the public from the staging area and the 
new building area during construction. Location of the staging area and location of any 
cranes should be established at time of DP. 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

o Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect. 

o Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should 
be reflected in the plans if required.  

o The code analysis is also to address the interconnected floor spaces (restraint & 
mechanical area) per the prescriptive requirements of the code or an alternative 
solution needs to be accepted by the Chief Building Inspector in lieu 

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 meters is 
required for all habitable spaces, there are 4 requirements to be followed to allow the 
parkade slab to be below 343.66: 

1. Raise the grade at any openings including windows, doors and garage doors to 
prevent water ingress; 

2. The walls and slab must be sealed (tanked); 
3. The strata bylaw must include the requirement that no storage other than licensed 

movable vehicles;  
4. The parkade slab elevation at the lowest point may not be below 343.00. 

 We strongly recommend that the developer have his professional consultants review and 
prepare solutions for potential impact of this development on adjacent properties. Any 
damage to adjacent properties is a civil action which does not involve the city directly. 
The items of potential damage claims by adjacent properties are items like settlement of 
foundations (preload), damage to the structure during construction, additional snow drift 
on neighbour roofs, excessive noise from mechanical units, vibration damage during 
foundation preparation work etc. 

 Guards are required for all decks. The drawings provided don’t clearly identify these 
requirements since they appear to be defined as climbable, but will be reviewed at time 
of building permit application. The appearance of these guards may affect the form and 
character of the building. 

 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 An exit analysis is required as part of the code analysis at time of building permit 
application. The exit analysis is to address travel distances within the units, number of 
required exits per area, door swing direction, handrails on each side of exit stairs, width 
of exits etc 

29



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 6 

 Washroom requirements for base building are to be addressed in the building permit 
application. 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit. 
This should include the signage required for the building addressing to be defined on the 
drawings per the bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

 Mechanical Ventilation inlet and exhausts vents are not clearly defined in these drawings 
for the enclosed parking. The location and noise from these units should be addressed at 
time of Development Permit. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation and NAFS are 
being applied to this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

Addressed as part of Z14-0027 

6.3 Fire Department 

 Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required.  

 A visible address must be posted on Strathcona as per City of Kelowna By-Laws  

 Sprinkler drawings are to be submitted to the Fire Dept. for review when available. 
Ensure that isolation valves are at an acceptable level as per the COK Bylaw 10760.  

 A fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC is required at occupancy. The fire safety plan 
and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing format on a CD or 
DVD to facilitate Fire Department pre-planning for this structure. The fire safety plan 
should clearly detail the unique requirements for this structure. A copy of the sprinkler 
system owner’s certificate is to be included in the fire safety plan.  

 Fire Department access is to be met as per BCBC 3.2.5.6  

 Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to the fire dept. is required by the 
fire dept. entrance. Kurt’s Lock & Safe at 100A – 1021 Ellis Street, Kelowna is the 
approved supplier for flush mount lock boxes.  

 The standpipes connections are to be installed on the transitional landings of the 
stairwells as per NFPA 14.  

 All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met.  

 Fire alarm system is to be monitored by an agency meeting the CAN/ULC S562 Standard.  

 Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement.  

 Fire department connection is to be within 45M of a fire hydrant – please ensure this is 
possible and that the FD connection is clearly marked and visible from the street. 

6.4 Interior Health Authority 

No Concerns. Support the application. 

6.5 Fortis BC (Electric) 

There are primary distribution facilities along Strathcona Avenue and Abbott Street.  Due 
to the size and use of the development, it is likely that 3 phase power will be required.  
The SRW must be entirely on private property and the area required to accommodate that 
size of transformer is 5m x 5m.  It is unclear whether that much room has been accounted 
for in the proposed design.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any 
change to the subject lots' existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate 
land rights where required. 

30



HAP14-0009 / DP14-0117 – Page 7 

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: June 13th, 2014  
Community Heritage Committee: July 3rd, 2014 
Public Information Meeting:  July 29th, 2014 
Council - Public Hearing:  October 21st, 2014 
 
THAT the Community Heritage Committee does not support Heritage Alteration Permit 
Application No. HAP14-0009 for the properties located at 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue in order 
to accommodate a 3.5 storey mixed use health services building. 
 
Anecdotal Comments: 
The Community Heritage Committee feels that the subject properties, although within the 
Heritage Conservation Area, are in the Hospital interface area for which the Community Heritage 
Committee has previously requested further direction from Council.  If the proposed building was 
on the edge of the Heritage Conservation Area but not in it, the Committee would not have a 
problem with the form and character facing the Heritage Conservation Area.  The Committee 
expressed a concern that the proposed building contains condo units and therefore is neither a 
residence or a medical facility. The Committee also expressed a concern that the proposed 
building does not meet the Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines with respect to 
Form and Character. 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Urban Planning  
 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir. of Community Planning and Real Estate 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Subject Property Map 
Site Plan & Drawings 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Applicant’s Design Rationale Update 
Rezoning / OCP Amendment Report & Minutes 
 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: April 27, 2015 

RIM No. 0940-40 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LB) 

Application: DP15-0030 Owner: 
Rutland Crossing 
Development Ltd., Inc. No. 
BC0910164 

Address: 
140 Highway 33 East 

145 Rutland Road North 
Applicant: 

Compass Real Estate 
Development Ltd. 

Subject: Development Permit Application 

Existing OCP Designation: MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial) 

Existing Zone: C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Permit No. DP15-0030 for Lot 1, Section 
26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan KAP62974, located on 140 Highway 33 East, Kelowna, BC and Lot 1, 
Section 26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 11269 Except Plan 37956, located on 145 Rutland Road 
North, Kelowna, BC subject to the following: 

1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “A”; 

2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “B”; 

3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule “C”; 

4. The applicant be required to post with the City a Landscape Performance Security deposit 
in the form of a “Letter of Credit” in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the 
landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; 

5. Prior to issuance of the Building Permit, the requirements of the Development Engineering 
Branch must be satisfied; 

AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted conditions of Council’s 
approval of the Development Permit Application in order for the permit to be issued; 

AND FURTHER THAT this Development Permit is valid for two (2) years from the date of Council 
approval, with no opportunity to extend. 

68



DP15-0030 – Page 2 

 
 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a Development Permit application for the form and character of a commercial 
development. 

3.0 Urban Planning  

Urban Planning Staff support the Development Permit application for a commercial development 
on the subject properties, titled Rutland Crossing. This prominent site within the Rutland Urban 
Centre has been vacant for years and the proposed development is consistent with the C4 – Urban 
Centre Commercial zone that characterizes much of the Highway 33 corridor through the Rutland 
Urban Centre. The site is in a Revitalization Development Permit Area and this Development 
Permit considers the applicable design guidelines. The site currently consists of two properties 
that the applicant intends to consolidate through application to the Registrar of the Land Titles 
Office. 

The building design generally meets the design guidelines with windows and doors along active 
frontages, distinctive massing articulation, varied building heights and visible entrances. The 
main materials being used are brick and stucco, with metal accents and canopies around windows 
and doors. Specific signage will be determined once tenancy is confirmed and a Sign Permit will 
be required along with the Building Permit. 

Potential impacts to the adjacent residential property to the northeast are reduced through the 
site design. The active commercial area is located away from this portion of the site and the 
landscape buffer further separates these uses. The parking, loading and refuse enclosure areas 
are generally screened from public view by the building and landscaping treatment. 

Although drive-throughs are not typically permitted in Urban Centres, they are a permitted use 
where a property fronts a provincial highway. Staff’s preference would be for the drive-through 
to be located at the rear of the site with the building sited closer to the intersection; however, 
this is made difficult due to the irregular site configuration and single driveway access from 
Rutland Road North. Pedestrian walkways to the site will include marked crosswalks across the 
drive-through aisle, and customer bicycle parking will be provided. 

In 1998, a Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment for 140 Highway 33 East indicated potential for 
shallow soil contamination from a welding shop that previously operated on the site. More recent 
information suggests that any potentially contaminated soil was likely removed after the site was 
used as a construction staging area in 2012 and 2013. At this time, surface soils were removed 
and granular fill was placed on much of the site. A Preliminary Site Investigation completed in 
2011 for 145 Rutland Road North showed potential for cross-contamination from an existing 
underground tank for used oil on the adjacent property at 160 Highway 33 East. A letter has been 
provided confirming the operator of the former service station at 160 Highway 33 East is not 
aware of contamination affecting adjacent properties. Under the Contaminated Sites Regulation, 
a property owner is required to notify adjacent property owners if contamination is likely to have 
migrated to neighbouring properties.  

The Uptown Rutland Business Association has submitted a letter of support for the proposed 
development, outlining the benefits of development on this site to the Uptown Rutland area. 

 

 

 

 

69



DP15-0030 – Page 3 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposed Rutland Crossing development consists of three commercial units, intended to be 
food primary establishments, one of which will be a drive-in food service. The building will total 
approximately 550 m2 in area. Additionally, each unit will have a small patio for a total of 119 m2 
of seated outdoor space. Vehicular access will be from Rutland Road North with no direct access 
from Highway 33 East. Pedestrian connections to the site will connect to sidewalks along both 
Rutland Road North and Highway 33 East. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject site is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Highway 33 East and 
Rutland Road North in the Rutland Urban Centre. The site is designated MXR – Mixed Use 
(Residential / Commercial) in the Official Community Plan and is within the Permanent Growth 
Boundary. The surrounding area is a mix of commercial uses, with some low density residential to 
the northeast. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 
Health services 
Financial services 

East 
RM1 – Four Dwelling Housing  
RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 

Four Dwelling Housing 
Two Dwelling Housing 
Automotive and equipment repair shops 

South C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Mixed-use commercial (Rutland Plaza) 

West C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 
Insurance and financial services (Valley 
First Credit Union) 

 

Subject Property Map: 140 Highway 33 East & 145 Rutland Road North 

 

 

70



DP15-0030 – Page 4 

 
 

4.3 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C4 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Maximum Floor Area Ratio 1.0 0.28 

Maximum Site Coverage 75% 28.14% 

Maximum Height 15.0 m or 4 storeys 7.0 m 

Minimum Front Yard 4.5 m (abutting Highway 33) 7.3 m 

Minimum Side Yard (east) 2.0 m 
3.0 m (to refuse enclosure) 

15.0 m (to building) 

Minimum Side Yard (west) 0.0 m 9.9 m 

Minimum Rear Yard 0.0 m 15.1 m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 
Maximum Parking Requirements 

10 spaces 
13 spaces 

13 spaces 

Minimum Bicycle Parking 
2 Class I 
4 Class II 

2 Class I 
4 Class II 

Minimum Loading Space 28 m2 28 m2 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Maximize Pedestrian / Cycling Connectivity.2 Require that pedestrian and cyclist movement and 
infrastructure be addressed in the review and approval of all City and private sector 
developments, including provision of sidewalks and trails and recognition of frequently used 
connections and informal pedestrian routes. With new developments, require dedication of on-
site walking and cycling paths where necessary to provide links to adjacent parks, schools, transit 
stops, recreation facilities, employment nodes, cul-de-sacs and large activity areas. 

Rutland Urban Design.3 Ensure that the urban design for Uptown Rutland clearly differentiates 
this commercial district from others in the City and interior of BC. This will be pivotal to making 
the bus exchange area and redevelopment of Rutland a success. To this end, redevelopment 
should: 

 Feature, at the northeast and northwest corners at the intersection of Highway 33 and 
Rutland Road, special architecture and/or landmarks that signify, particularly to 
motorists, the presence of a commercial district. This site is historically important to 
Rutland and marks the western edge of Uptown Rutland. 

 

                                                           
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.10.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.20.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

71



DP15-0030 – Page 5 

 
 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCCs) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any Building 
Permits. 

 Placement Permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. 
The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of Development Permit application. 

 A Hoarding Permit may be required and protection of the public from the new building 
area during construction. 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of Building Permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

o Access to the roof may be required per NFPA along with guard rails and should be 
reflected in the plans if required. 

o Spatial calculation to be provided to address unprotected openings. 

 A Geotechnical Report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of Building Permit application. 

 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for Building Permit are to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 Washroom requirements for base building are to be addressed in the Building Permit 
application. 

 Size and location of all signage required to be clearly defined as part of the Development 
Permit. This should include the signage required for the building addressing to be defined 
on the drawings per the Bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

 Full plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation and NAFS are 
being applied to this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached memorandum, dated March 10, 2015. 

6.3 Fire Department 

 Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required. 

 Engineered Fire Flow calculations are required to determine Fire Hydrant requirements as 
per the City of Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw No. 7900. A commercial building requires 150 
L/sec. Should a hydrant be required on this property, it shall be private. 

 A visible address must be posted as per City of Kelowna bylaws. 

6.4 FortisBC - Electric 

 There are primary distribution facilities along Highway 33 and Rutland Road. There is a 
pole located near the northeast corner of the intersection of Highway 33 and Rutland 
Road that may have to be relocated to accommodate the proposed turning lane.  

72



DP15-0030 – Page 6 

 
 

 The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the subject property’s 
existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  February 12, 2015  
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Lindsey Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 
 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
URBA Letter of Support 
Draft Development Permit No. DP15-0030 
Schedule A: Site Plan and Floor Plan 
Schedule B: Elevations and Colour Board 
Schedule C:  Landscape Plan and Irrigation Plan 
 

73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 10891 
Z13-0032 – Gary Martin Lupul  

325 Hartman Road 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 1, Section 26, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20566 located on 325 
Hartman Road, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 – 
Two Dwelling Housing zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 21st day of October, 2013. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 5th day of November, 2013. 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 5th day of November, 2013. 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

89



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
April 20, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0220-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

George King, Financial Planning Manager 

Subject: 
 

Amendment #1 to Five Year Financial Plan, 2014-2018 

 Report Prepared by: Debra Hutton, Accountant 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Manager, Financial Planning 
dated April 20, 2015 with respect to amendments to the Five Year Financial Plan 2014-2018 
Bylaw 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11071 being Amendment No. 1 to the Five Year Financial Plan 2014-2018 
Bylaw No. 10950 be advanced for reading consideration; 
 
 
Purpose:  
 
To amend the Five Year Financial Plan as required by the Community Charter so that it 
includes the authorized transfers and amendments that occurred throughout the year. 
 
 
Background: 
 
The City of Kelowna, in order to comply with section 165(1) of the Community Charter 
(Financial Management), amends the financial plan to provide for expenditures required after 
adoption of the Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw.  These expenditures, in all cases, do not 
impact taxation demand but rather result in the shift of funding from one source to another 
and/or shifts in expenditures within, or from, one municipal purpose area to another. 
 
The amended financial plan is impacted on a departmental basis by contingency fund 
transfers, disbursements of Other Working Capital, transfers from the City Manager’s training 
account and other transfers as permitted under the Budget Amendment Policy #262 and 
Budget Transfer Policy #261, which are excluded from the analysis below.  
 
 
 

90



The attached Schedule A reflects the following material amendments and transfers that are 
being brought before Council for the first time: 
 
Community Planning & Real Estate: 

 
CN Discontinuance Project transferred $105,000 from Salaries Management to Professional & 
Consulting Services, as an internal manager was able to be utilized to manage the project, 
allowing for additional work to be completed by consultants to help investigate the City’s 
options in the disposition process.  

An additional budget of $75,000 was needed in order to fulfill Landfill Operations Certificate 
requirements that will ultimately be part of the Design Operations and Closure Plan.  This was 
funded from the existing Landfill Gas Design, Planning and Studies operating budget.  

 
Civic Operations: 
 
General Fund 

 
Four vehicle purchases required additional funding of $114,153. The additional funding came 
from budget available after the purchase of other equipment authorized in 2014.   
 
Infrastructure 
 
Leon/Pandosy intersection improvements were delayed due to the significant amount of 
construction in the downtown core.  This delay caused increased expenses in order to finish 
by the deadline.  Funding of $83,750 was available from the Transportation Infrastructure 
Renewal project as well as a drainage project to cover the increase.   
 
The purchased services budget for the Integrated Pest Management project was reduced by 
$200,000 as the Provincial Pine Beetle grant for 2014 was not received.  
 
Wastewater, Water Funds 

 
The Lakeshore Road Upgrade project required additional funding of $437,365 related to the 
sewer and water components.  This was a result of contaminated materials encountered in 
front of the Petro-Canada gas station, tender pricing being higher than anticipated by the 
engineer’s cost estimate, and the budget being based on preliminary design that did not 
account for the upsizing of sewer and water mains.  Funding was available from the Morrison 
Ave (Richter to Ethel) and Lane N of Fuller, the Ethel to Gordon projects and DCC Reserve in 
order to complete this upgrade. 

 

Other Departments: 

Fortis BC Electrical division made a payment of $196,000 for 1% in lieu of taxes, due to 
additional electrical sales in 2013 from the former Kelowna Electric Utility. These funds were 
contributed to reserve and included in 2015 budget.   

This amendment is being presented for Council to approve the changes to the 2014 Financial 
Plan that have occurred since Final budget was approved in May of 2014.  

91



Legal/Statutory Authority:   
 
Community Charter section 165. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
G.L.King, CPA, CMA 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Genelle Davidson CPA, CMA, Director Financial Services 
 
 

  

92



2014 FINANCIAL PLAN Bylaw No. 11071

Schedule A
FINANCIAL PLAN 2014 - 2018

2014 Amended 

Budget 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019-2030

REVENUE 

PROPERTY VALUE TAX 107,697,000 107,697,000 113,075,817 120,151,912 126,756,800 131,318,553 1,976,499,755     

LIBRARY REQUISITION 5,422,208 5,422,208 5,530,652 5,641,265 5,754,047 5,868,998 88,335,370         

PARCEL TAXES 3,451,626 3,451,626 3,272,073 3,219,995 3,241,120 3,262,562 43,020,762         

FEES AND CHARGES 98,185,243 98,185,243 98,252,183 100,791,173 103,230,002 105,755,134 1,446,765,291     

BORROWING PROCEEDS 62,459,600 62,454,080 1,000,000 5,215,000 4,965,000 2,383,230 31,425,731         

OTHER SOURCES 59,229,208 57,527,140 45,037,994 50,434,310 46,115,988 45,637,954 601,790,788        

336,444,885 334,737,297 266,168,719 285,453,654 290,062,957 294,226,431 4,187,837,697

TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS

RESERVE FUNDS 3,561,626 1,721,276 2,255,221 2,274,631 2,294,421 2,314,592 30,520,650         

DCC FUNDS 23,505,002 18,683,395 20,025,508 15,069,848 17,407,661 12,000,829 177,710,688        

SURPLUS/RESERVE ACCOUNTS 88,137,806 81,002,077 39,544,817 38,985,607 42,599,158 22,665,911 348,931,087        

115,204,434 101,406,748 61,825,546 56,330,086 62,301,240 36,981,332 557,162,425

TOTAL REVENUE 451,649,319 436,144,045 327,994,265 341,783,740 352,364,197 331,207,763 4,745,000,122

EXPENDITURES

MUNICIPAL DEBT

DEBT INTEREST 10,295,577 10,295,577 10,019,384 12,497,882 13,399,424 13,319,395 95,441,499

DEBT PRINCIPAL 11,897,321 11,897,321 11,699,430 13,474,621 13,901,710 15,046,052 90,128,726

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 195,737,236 182,853,670 74,112,791 77,656,744 81,267,623 50,123,534 961,381,766

OTHER MUNICIPAL PURPOSES

GENERAL GOVERNMENT 39,468,235 39,379,148 39,709,308 40,765,052 41,707,831 42,888,947 615,377,207

PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT & 

BUILDING SERVICES 22,529,908 22,047,988 20,527,862 21,152,583 21,755,260 22,370,389 322,369,653

COMMUNITY SERVICES 58,937,802 58,052,503 59,572,401 61,860,113 64,212,519 66,475,335 956,590,060

PROTECTIVE SERVICES 47,168,348 45,935,120 48,286,637 50,086,189 51,767,871 53,701,803 770,521,714

UTILITIES 17,163,264 17,236,300 16,892,163 17,347,583 17,827,151 18,118,083 271,781,811

AIRPORT 11,474,620 11,469,410 11,863,878 12,263,958 12,639,948 13,022,008 186,841,769

414,672,311 399,167,037 292,683,854 307,104,724 318,479,337 295,065,546 4,270,434,205

TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS

RESERVE FUNDS 11,206,507 11,206,507 11,453,535 11,468,714 11,473,667 11,480,223 151,380,410

DCC FUNDS

SURPLUS/RESERVE ACCOUNTS 25,770,501 25,770,501 23,856,876 23,210,303 22,411,193 24,661,994 323,185,508

36,977,008 36,977,008 35,310,411 34,679,016 33,884,860 36,142,217 474,565,917

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 451,649,319 436,144,045 327,994,265 341,783,740 352,364,197 331,207,763 4,745,000,122

Financial Plan 2014 - 2018

Page C193



 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11071 
 

Amendment No. 1 to Five Year Financial Plan 2014-2018 Bylaw 
No. 10950 

 

 

The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts that the City of Kelowna 

"Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw, 2014-2018, No. 10950 be amended as follows: 

 
1. THAT Schedule “A” be deleted in its entirety and replaced with a new Schedule “A” as attached to 

and forming part of this bylaw; 

 
2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No. 11071, being Amnendment No. 1 to Five Year 

Financial Plan 2014-2018 Bylaw No. 10950." 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the date of 

adoption. 

 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 

 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 

 

 

 

 
 

City Clerk 
 

94



 

 

 

95



Page 1 of 7 
 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
April 20, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0280-40 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Matt Friesen, Revenue Accountant 

Subject: 
 

2015 Tax Distribution Policy 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approve a Municipal Tax Distribution Policy as outlined in the Report of the 
Revenue Accountant dated April 20, 2015, for the year 2015 that will result in a modification 
of the 2014 Tax Class Ratios to reflect the uneven market value changes which have been 
experienced between property classes, as follows: 
 
Property                                                     2015 Tax        2014 Tax 
Class         Description                                      Class Ratios     Class Ratios 
 
01/08/03     Residential/Rec/NP/SH                             1.0000:1        1.0000:1 
02         Utilities                                                   5.1296:1        5.0301:1 
04         Major Industrial                                        3.4822:1        3.0908:1 
05/06         Light Industrial/Business/Other       2.1307:1        2.0881:1 
09         Farm Land                                        0.1244:1        0.1242:1 
91         Farm Improvements                             0.4882:1        0.4953:1 
 
AND THAT Council approve development of 2015 tax rates to reflect the 2015 assessment 
changes in property market values. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To establish tax class ratios that will be used in the preparation of the 2015 tax rates. 
 
Background: 
 
The 2015 assessment roll is based on market values established on July 1, 2014. The market 

value change to assessments is outlined in the following table: 

 

96



 

   Market 

Property   Increase 

Class    Description (Decrease) 

01/08/03   Residential/Rec/NP/SH 3.63% 

02    Utilities  1.62% 

04    Major Industrial (8.02)% 

05/06    Light Industrial/Business/Other 1.56% 

09    Farm Land (0.14)% 

91    Farm Improvements 5.14% 

 
 

Under Provincial legislation, Community Charter section 165(3.1), municipalities must set out 

objectives and policies in relation to the distribution of property value taxes among the 

property classes. The current Council policy is to modify tax class ratios to provide an 

effective tax increase that is the same for all classes. Market value changes that result in 

uneven changes between property classes result in a tax burden shift to the class 

experiencing greater market value increases unless tax class ratios are modified to mitigate 

this shift. Over time this can lead to changes in the tax ratios of one, or several, property 

classes if their market change is different than the residential class.    

From 2014 information on municipalities over 75,000 population, Kelowna has the third lowest 

Business Class ratio and was one of nine municipalities over 75,000 population that had a 

Business class ratio under 3.00.  As approved in 2014, to remain competitive, Kelowna should 

ensure that business and light industry property tax ratios remain below the average of BC 

municipalities with populations greater than 75,000.  A maximum of 3.00 is to be considered 

for the Light Industrial/Business class ratio and the impacts on the other property classes 

from this cap (if required) will be reported to Council during the annual Tax Distribution 

Policy review. 

The Utility Class 02 is getting close to the maximum ratio that can be used and this may 

impact the tax sharing in future years. The impact will be minimal due to the small 

assessment in that property class but there is a Provincial regulation capping the class 

multiple at 2.5 times the Business property class. This equates to 5.3268 for the current year. 

Impact on Properties Within Each Property Class 

It is important to be aware that the tax rates established as a result of new tax class ratios 

are designed to avoid shifts between property classes; however the rates established are 

based on the average market value increase for the entire class or classes.  

 

97



The establishment of tax class ratios that prevent shifts between classes does not 

eliminate potential shifts within a property class where a property has experienced a 

market value change that is greater than the average for that class. 

The establishment of modified tax class ratios simply provides a basis for an equitable 

distribution of general municipal taxes between classes; however the establishment of the 

required tax rate will be dependent on the final tax demand as determined by Council during 

Final Budget deliberations. 

Background Information 

Background information, attached to this report, provides additional related information on 

the following topics: 

 The B.C. Assessment Authority and the Assessment System 

 The Taxation System 

 Historical Council Policy - Tax Class Ratios 

 The 2015 Assessment Roll 
 

Conclusion 

Utilities, Major Industrial and Light Industrial/Business/Other, tax class ratios for 2015 have 

increased in relation to the residential class; while the Farm Improvement class decreased. 

This reflects the market value changes experienced in those classes in comparison to the 

residential class. The Farm Land tax rate will remain at fifty cents per thousand of assessed 

value, as set by statute. 

Existing Policy: 

As included in the Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw: 

 Council will annually review and modify tax class ratios to provide an effective tax 
change that is the same for all classes. 
 

 The impacts on other property classes from administering a ratio cap on the Light 
Industrial/Business classes will be reported to Council during the annual Tax 

Distribution Policy review. 

 Regularly review and compare the City’s relative position in terms of distribution of 
taxes to other similarly sized municipalities in British Columbia. 

 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Community Charter section 165(3.1). 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
The approved tax class ratios will be used to establish the 2015 property tax rates. 
 
 

98



Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
 
Matt Friesen, Revenue Accountant 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Genelle Davidson, CPA, CMA, Director, Financial Services 
 
 
cc: Division Director, Corporate and Protective Services            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

99



BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

ASSESSMENT SYSTEM/TAXATION SYSTEM 

 

The B.C. Assessment Authority and the Assessment System 

The B.C. Assessment Authority is an independent body created by the Provincial Legislature 

and is charged with the responsibility of preparing an Assessment Roll for all of the properties 

in British Columbia. 

Taxing authorities, at various levels of government (e.g. Provincial, Municipalities, Regional 

Districts, Hospitals, School Districts) use the Assessment Roll to assist them with the 

distribution of the taxes required to operate their corporations. 

July 1st is the assessment valuation date for properties listed in the assessment roll. 

Although the Assessment Roll preparation is the responsibility of the Assessment Authority, 

for use by various taxing jurisdictions, B.C. Assessment has nothing to do with the actual 

levying of taxes, other than for its own operating levy. 

The Taxation System 

City Council is responsible only for the General Municipal portion of the property taxes 

appearing on the Kelowna tax bill that is sent to property owners in May of each year.  The 

City of Kelowna is responsible for the billing and collection of taxes levied by other taxing 

jurisdictions such as the School District, however City Council has no direct control over 

these levies. 

The General Municipal tax levy is the City's primary revenue source which is used to pay for 

the services that it delivers to its citizens such as fire and police protection, street and parks 

maintenance, library, new road construction, etc. 

The provision of water, sewer and airport services is funded by way of user rates. These costs 

are not included in the general municipal tax levy. 

The Assessment System managed by B.C. Assessment and the Taxation System managed by 

the City of Kelowna are two separate systems, subject to different Acts of Legislature and 

meant for two different purposes. 

Over the years, the taxation system has changed substantially and has been constantly 

reviewed and amended by the Province in an attempt to provide a more equitable and 

understandable method of sharing the taxation requirements within each municipality. 

Prior to the present system, which provides the authority for Municipalities to set the tax 

class ratios, uneven market fluctuations between classes resulted in shifts in the taxation 

burden from one property class to another.  

100



Tax Class ratios represent the relative tax amounts that each class will pay as a ratio of the 

residential tax class.  For example, if the tax class ratio of the Business to Residential class is 

2.50:1 this means that for each dollar of market value the Business Class tax rate will be two 

and one half times that of the Residential Class. 

The ability to establish different tax rates for each class of property means that 

municipalities can avoid shifts of taxation between classes of property, unless there is a 

deliberate political decision to do otherwise. 

The differential tax rate powers granted to municipalities are not, however, designed to 

prevent shifts of taxation between properties within a particular class. 

Historical Council Policy - Tax Class Ratios 

From 1984, when City Council was granted the authority to establish tax class ratios, to 1988, 

there was very little market value movement in the City.  As a result there was no need to 

adjust the tax class ratios to prevent shifts in the tax burden from one property class to 

another. 

 

This changed slightly in 1989 and the City chose to modify the tax class ratios at that time to 

reflect the difference in market movement between the residential class and the business 

class. 

In 1991 there was a more dramatic change in the market values of residential property which 

necessitated a more significant change in the tax class ratios to ensure that the residential 

class did not experience a greater percentage tax increase, on average, than other property 

classes that year. 

The following is a historical recap of the tax class ratios which were established from 1985 

through to 2015 based on market value shifts that occurred during that period (some years 

are omitted to condense the information): 

 

Property 

Class 

1985 1991 1997 2003 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

             

Residential 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Utilities 2.21 3.00 3.03 3.76 6.17 6.15 5.21 5.67 5.38 5.05 5.03 5.13 

Supportive 

Housing                                                                                                                 

     1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Industry 

Major 

1.74 2.49 3.20 2.93 3.97 3.96 3.54 3.32 3.12 3.04 3.09 3.48 

Industry 

Light 

1.74 2.40 2.02 2.04 2.71 2.72 2.38 2.37 2.19 2.08 2.09 2.13 

Business 1.74 2.06 2.02 2.04 2.71 2.72 2.38 2.37 2.19 2.08 2.09 2.13 

101



 

The 2015 Assessment Roll 

The following is the 2015 split between market and non-market changes as provided by B.C. 

Assessment: 

 (000's)  
 2015 2014 Market Non-Market 
 
Res/Rec/NP/SH 20,688,960.2 19,506,478.8 3.63% 2.43% 
 
Utilities 27,051.3 26,455.6  1.62%      0.64% 
 
Major Industrial 27,890.9 30,323.0 (8.02)%        0.00% 
 
Light Ind/Bus/Other 4,065,563.5 3,933,330.7 1.56% 1.81% 
 
Farm Land 21,114.1 21,516.1 (0.14)% (1.73)% 
 
Farm Improvements 249,875.8 240,434.8  5.14% (1.21)%  
 

Totals 25,080,455.9 23,758,539.1 3.28% 2.28% 

 
The 2015 Assessment Roll includes a total of $542.8 million in non-market change values 
added and summarized as follows: 
 
  (million’s) 

01/08/03 Residential/Rec/NP/SH $474.8 

02 Utilities 0.2 

04 Major Industrial 0.0 

05/06 Light Industrial/Business & Other 71.1 

09/91 Farm Land/Farm Improvements -3.3 

 Total $542.8 
 
 

/Other 

Rec/ 

Non-Profit 

1.00 0.94 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Farm Land 0.09 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.15 0.14 0.13 0.12 0.12 

Farm Imprv 0.41 0.38 0.46 0.51 0.55 0.55 0.51 0.52 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.49 

102



2015 TAX 
D ISTRIBUTION POLICY 

103



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

PURPOSE 
 

To establish the methodology for “Tax Class 
Ratios” or distribution of taxation demand 
among property classes resulting in the 2015 
tax rate 
 
 
 

City of Kelowna 

104



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

BACKGROUND 
 
 

Provincial legislation empowers local    
governments to distribute property taxes 
among property classes 

 

There are nine property classes within the 
City of Kelowna:  

 

Residential   Light Industrial 
Utilities   Business/Other 
Supportive Housing Rec/Non-Profit 
Major Industrial  Farm Land 
     Farm Improvements 

 
 
 

City of Kelowna 

105



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

TAX CLASS RATIO 
 

A multiple of the tax rate in comparison to 
the residential rate (base rate) 
 

Used to calculate the Municipal Tax Rate for 
each Property Class 
 
 
 
 

City of Kelowna 

106



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

TWO COMMON TAX DISTRIBUTION 
METHODOLOGIES 
 

Fixed Tax Class Ratio Method 
 Leads to tax burden shifts between classes due to 

differential changes in market values 

Fixed Share Method 
 Compensates for differential changes in Market 

values between Property Classes 
 Provides an equal effective tax increase for all 

classes 
 Most common method used by municipalities 

 
 

City of Kelowna 

107



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

TAX DISTRIBUTION HISTORY 
 

Prior to1983 
 Province used “Fixed Tax Class Ratio” method 

and designated Fixed Tax Class Ratios to Local 
Governments 

1984 
 Province granted Local Governments authority 

to determine their own tax distribution method 
 Most municipalities adopt “Fixed Share” 

method 
1989 
 Kelowna City Council adopted “Fixed Share” 

method for Tax Distribution Policy 

City of Kelowna 

108



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

CITY OF KELOWNA TAX CLASS RATIO 
HISTORY 
 
 

 

City of Kelowna 

109



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

CURRENT METHODOLOGY 
 

The “Fixed Share” method has been 
supported by Council since 1989 
 
Compensates for market shifts between 
property classes 
 
Provides an effective tax increase that is the 
same for all property classes 
 

 
 

City of Kelowna 

110



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

CURRENT METHODOLOGY 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City of Kelowna 

STEP 1 – CALCULATE ASSESSMENT CHANGE 
  2014 2015 Assessment 

Property Assessment Assessment Percentage 
Class Totals Totals Change 

        
Res/Rec/NP/SH 19,506.5  20,688.9  6.06% 
Utilities 26.5  27.1  2.25% 
Major Industrial 30.3  27.9  -8.02% 
Light Ind/Business/Other 3,933.3  4,065.6  3.36% 
Farm Land 21.5  21.1  -1.87% 
Farm Improvements 240.4  249.9  3.93% 
        
  23,758.5  25,080.5  5.56% 
  (In millions)   111



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

CURRENT METHODOLOGY 
 

  

 
 
 
 

City of Kelowna 

STEP 2 – IDENTIFY REASONS FOR CHANGE 
Property Percentage Non -Market Market 

Class Change Change Change 
        
Res/Rec/NP/SH 6.06% 2.43% 3.63% 
Utilities 2.25% 0.64% 1.62% 
Major Industrial -8.02% 0.00% -8.02% 
Lgt Ind/Business/Other 3.36% 1.81% 1.56% 
Farm Land -1.87% -1.73% -0.14% 
Farm Improvements 3.93% -1.21% 5.14% 
        
  5.56%   2.28% 3.28% 

112



 

2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

CURRENT METHODOLOGY 
 

Fixed Share method modifies the Tax Class Ratios to account for 
market change 
 

The effective tax increase is equal among all property classes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                   Provisional Budget Tax Increase = 3.46% 

 

City of Kelowna 

STEP 3 – MODIFY THE TAX CLASS RATIOS 
Property Market   2014 Tax 2015 Tax Effective 

Class Change   Class Ratios Class Ratios Tax 
        (Modified) Increase 
Res/Rec/NP/SH 3.63%   1.0000  1.0000  3.46% 
Utilities 1.62%   5.0301  5.1296  3.46% 
Major Industrial -8.02%   3.0908  3.4822  3.46% 
Lgt Ind/Business/Other 1.56%   2.0881  2.1307  3.46% 
Farm Land -0.14%   0.1242  0.1244  -0.10% 
Farm Improvements 5.14%   0.4953  0.4882  3.46% 
        
  3.28%           

113



 

2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

ALTERNATE METHODOLOGY 
 

Fixed Tax Class Ratio Method leaves the Tax Class Ratios unchanged 
 

There is a tax burden shift to the Property Class experiencing the 
greater market value increases 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                       Provisional Budget Tax Increase = 3.46% 

 
 

City of Kelowna 

Property Market   2014 Tax 2015 Tax Effective 
Class Change   Class Ratios Class Ratios Tax 

        (Unchanged) Increase 
Res/Rec/NP/SH 3.63%   1.0000  1.0000  4.12% 
Utilities 1.62%   5.0301  5.0301  2.10% 
Major Industrial -8.02%   3.0908  3.0908  -7.59% 
Lgt Ind/Business/Other 1.56%   2.0881  2.0881  2.03% 
Farm Land -0.14%   0.1242  0.1242  -0.10% 
Farm Improvements 5.14%   0.4953  0.4953  5.64% 
            
  3.28%           

114



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  
COMPAR ISON  WITH  2014  

City of Kelowna 

Property Market   2014 Tax 2015 Tax 

Class Change   Class Ratios Class Ratios 

          

Res/Rec/NP/SH 3.63%   1.0000  1.0000  

Utilities 1.62%   5.0301  5.1296  

Major Industrial -8.02%   3.0908  3.4822  

Lgt Ind/Business/Other 1.56%   2.0881  2.1307  

Farm Land -0.14%   0.1242  0.1244  

Farm Improvements 5.14%   0.4953  0.4882  
115



ALL TAX ING  AUTHOR IT IES  

City of Kelowna 

2015 TAX CLASS RATIOS 
 PROPERTY        2014   BC   RDCO & 

CLASS   MUNICIPAL   SCHOOL   ASSESSMENT   HOSPITAL 

Res/Rec/NP/SH 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Utilities 5.13 6.67 8.44 3.50 

Supportive Housing 1.00 0.05 0.00 1.00 

Major Industrial 3.48 2.94 8.44 3.40 

Light Industrial 2.13 2.94 2.82 3.40 

Business/Other 2.13 2.94 2.82 2.45 

Recreation/Non-Profit 1.00 1.67 1.00 1.00 

Farm Land   0.12   3.38   1.00   1.00 
116



2014  RAT IOS  >75 ,000  
City of Kelowna 

117



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

RECOMMENDED TAX DISTRIBUTION 
METHODOLOGY  “FIXED SHARE” 

Eliminates tax burden shifts between 
Property Classes 

Does not eliminate shifts within individual 
Property Classes 

City of Kelowna 

118



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

RECOMMENDED TAX DISTRIBUTION 
METHODOLOGY “FIXED SHARE” 
 

Business Tax Class Ratio below cap of 3.00 :1 
 

Business Tax Class Ratio remains below 2014 
Provincial Average 
 

Utility Tax Class Ratio below Provincial Cap of 
2.5 times Business Tax Class Ratio 

City of Kelowna 

119



2015  TAX  D I STR IBUT ION  POL ICY  

RECOMMENDED TAX DISTRIBUTION 
METHODOLOGY “FIXED SHARE” 
 

Provides stability and predictability 
 

Provides a basis for an equitable distribution of 
Municipal taxes between property classes 

City of Kelowna 

120



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
4/20/2015 
 

File: 
 

1140-51 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

J. Säufferer, Manager, Real Estate Services 

Subject: 
 

Mobile Food Concession Contract – Various City Beaches & Parks  

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 
 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approve the City entering into a Mobile Food Concession Contract, in the form 
attached to the Report of the Manager, Real Estate Services dated April 20, 2015, between 
the City of Kelowna and Scooter’s Ice Cream Ltd. to provide exclusive mobile food concession 
services to City-owned property for a term of three (3) years with two (2) further one (1) year 
renewal terms at the City’s sole discretion; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute all documents necessary to 
complete this agreement. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To enter into an exclusive mobile food concession contract with Scooter’s Ice Cream Ltd. for 
mobile food vending services to three City of Kelowna beaches and one waterpark. 
 
Background: 
 
In February 2015, the City issued a Request for Bids to provide, equip and operate the 
exclusive mobile concession within the designed parking areas at three (3) City of Kelowna 
beaches and (1) waterpark, namely: 
 

 Strathcona Beach, Strathcona Avenue & Abbott Street; 

 Rotary Beach, 3600 Block Lakeshore Road; 

 Sarson’s Beach, end of Sarson’s Road; and, 

 Quilchena Park, 347 Quilchena Drive. 
 
Mobile food concession services are to be provided during the period May 15th to September 
15th annually for a term of three (3) years.  Two (2) further one (1) year renewals are offered 
at the City’s sole discretion.   
 

121



Subsequent to an optional Information Meeting held on March 12, 2015, two acceptable bids 
were received and reviewed by an evaluation committee comprised of staff from Parks, Risk 
Managagement and Purchasing.  The bids were evaluated according to Mandatory Criteria 
requirements consisting of: 
 

 Relevant experience, qualifications and successes; 

 Proposed food items and prices; 

 Overall proposal for operating a high quality, service-oriented venture; 

 Financial capability and stability; and 

 Value of proposal. 
 
Based on this criteria, the successful bidder was Scooter’s Ice Cream Ltd. Factors towards 
awarding the bid to Scooters included: 
 

 Financial consideration of $3,500.00 plus 5% of the gross profits for each year of the 
contract; 

 Scooter’s proven record of operating a successful vending program including healthy 
food choices; and 

 Community service involvement with donations for programs such as Inn from the 
Cold, Gospel Mission and school fundraisers. 

 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Supervisor, Parks, Beaches & Sportsfields 
Manager, Risk Management 
Director, Financial Services 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Existing Policy 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
 
Submitted by:   J. Säufferer, Manager, Real Estate Services 
 
Approved for inclusion:  D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate 
 
Attachments:   Schedule A – Powerpoint 

Schedule B - Scooter’s Ice Cream Ltd. Bid Proposal 
Schedule C – Concession Contract 

 
cc:     T. Sophonow, Supervisor, Parks, Beaches & Sportsfields 
    L. Kayfish, Manager, Risk Management 
    G. Davidson, Director, Financial Services 

122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



M O B I L E  F O O D  C O N C E S S I O N  
Strathcona, Rotary & Sarson’s Beaches & Quilchena Park 

149



C O N C E S S I O N  B I D  D E TA I L S  

To service 3 City beaches and 1 park 
To operate from May 15th to Sept 15th  
Three year term with two 1-year renewal 
options 
Vehicles must be fully self-contained 
Healthy food choices required 
Contractor to provide annual financial 
reports to City Staff 
 

150



B E A C H  L O C AT I O N S  

Strathcona Beach 

Rotary Beach 

Sarson’s Beach 
151



Q U I L C H E N A PA R K   

152



S C O O T E R ’ S  I C E  C R E A M  

Family business 
6 self-contained mobile vending trucks 
Focus on healthful alternatives 
High level of community involvement 
Previous operator of City’s mobile 
concession contract 
 

153



Report to Council 
 
 
Date: 

 
4/15/2015 
 

File: 
 

1840-10 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

B. Davidson, Parks Planner, Infrastructure Planning 

Subject: 
 

Rutland Centennial Park – Inclusive All Ages Playground Project 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information the report from the Parks Planner dated April 15, 
2015, with respect to the 2015 Enabling Accessibility Fund for development of an inclusive all 
ages playground at Rutland Centennial Park; 
 
THAT Council supports the City submitting an application to Employment and Social 
Development Canada (ESDC) for the Enabling Accessibility in Communities Grant as outlined in 
the report; 
 
THAT Council approves $200,000 in funding for the City’s share of the project from the Parks 
Purchasing & Development Reserve, pending successful award of the Enabling Accessibility in 
Communities Grant to the City; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the 2015 Financial Plan be amended in order to provide this funding. 
 
Purpose:  
 
For Council to support making application to the ESDC’s Enabling Accessibility in Communities 
Grant program for a new inclusive playground at Rutland Centennial Park.  A Council 
Resolution is a condition of the grant application. 
 
Background: 
 
ESDC has announced a grant opportunity for construction of community facilities that improve 
accessibility and participation for children with disabilities. Grant award decisions are 
expected to be made in November 2015 for construction the following year. 
 
The grant includes the following conditions: 

 The project will facilitate and improve accessibility for people with disabilities; 

 The delivery of the project must have a maximum duration of 52 weeks; 

 The total amount of funding requested from ESDC must not exceed $50,000; 

 Contributions equal to or greater than 35% of the total eligible cost of the project 
must be provided by the applicant or other sources.  The assessment criteria states 

154



that additional points are given to projects where the applicant is exceeding the 
mandatory 35% contribution; 

 Municipalities are eligible to submit applications only for projects that enhance access 
to recreational spaces for children with disabilities; and, 

 Applicants must demonstrate community support for their project. 
 
Rutland Centennial Park - Inclusive Playground 
Staff have reviewed a number of project opportunities throughout the City and have 
determined that construction of a new inclusive playground at Rutland Centennial Park as 
envisioned by the overall Master Plan, (see Attachment A), will be the best fit to meet the 
criteria of the grant. 
 
An inclusive playground at Rutland Centennial Park is the highest priority for several reasons 
including: 
 

 Staff are already working on installation of Phase 1 improvements to the park in 2015, 
(a full size soccer field), so the playground project will lead to some resource 
efficiencies. 

 Park improvements will be a positive economic stimulus encouraging further 
development of the Rutland Town Centre, a strategic priority for the City. 

 The park has a high profile location within the Rutland Town Centre and is surrounded 
by residential neighbourhoods containing many families with children.  

 Staff hosted a public open house earlier this year on Rutland Centennial Park to seek 
input and comment on the park’s long term master plan.  By applying for this grant 
continued momentum for park improvement is demonstrated by the City, which was 
one of the concerns identified by the community at the open house. 

 As part of this year’s Phase 1 improvements a deficit will be created within the park 
by removal of the existing playground, which no longer meets current safety 
standards, is not universally accessible and conflicts with the location of the planned 
soccer field. 

 
An inclusive playground providing opportunities for children of all ages and abilities is 
warranted.  It will be critical to promote development, healthy physical activity and learning.   

 
Inclusive play addresses more than just accessibility; it creates universally designed play 
environments that increase the ‘playability’ for children of diverse abilities, age, race, 
gender, ethnicity, culture and socioeconomic status.  There are five elements of inclusive 
play that will be incorporated into the design and include physical, cognitive, communicative, 
social/emotional and sensory development, (see Attachment B).   
 
Based on public input from the open house Staff also recommend that an agricultural/orchard 
theme to reflect the history of the Rutland area be incorporated into the playground (See 
Attachment C – Playground Concept Plan and Attachment D - Character Images). 
 
Staff will continue to seek other partnership opportunities to assist in development of this 
important facility. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Tom Woloshyn, Landscape Design Technician 

155



Lorna Rowland, Landscape Design Technician 
Lorna Gunn, Grants & Partnerships Manager 
Genelle Davidson, Financial Services Director 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
The estimated cost of the project is $250,000. The City will request the maximum allowable 
funding from ESDC of $50,000.  The remaining funds of $200,000 will be funded by the City.   
 
The City needs to commit the funds in 2015 as a requirement of the grant application and so 
funding will be budgeted from the Parks Purchase and Development Reserve R079.  However, 
one of the terms of this grant is that awards will not be announced until the fall of 2015, with 
construction in 2016, thus providing the opportunity for the City to source the funds for the 
project from the 2016 Capital Budget rather than from reserve.  The benefit of this approach 
would be that the balance of the current reserve would be maintained for other emergent 
issues.  If the grant application is successful the 2015 Financial Plan will be amended, 
however it is the intention that because the project will begin in 2016 that it be budgeted 
from the 2016 Capital Plan.  

 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Letters of support were provided by: the Rutland Park Society; the Uptown Rutland Business 
Association; and the Community Action Toward Children’s Health, and Central Okanagan 
organization that provides programming and support for families with children, (see 
Attachment E). 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Existing Policy 
Personnel Implications 
Alternate Recommendation 
Communications Comments 
 
 
Submitted by: B. Davidson, Parks Planner, Infrastructure Division 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                      A. Newcombe, Infrastructure Divisional Director 
 
 
Attachment A - Rutland Centennial Park Master Plan 
Attachment B – Five Elements of Inclusive Play 
 
Attachment C - Playground Concept Plan 
Attachment D – Character Images 
Attachment E – Letters of Support 
 
cc:  Active Living & Culture Divisional Director  

  

156



 Parks and Building Planning Manager 
 Civic Operations Divisional Director 
 Financial Services Director 
 Grants & Partnerships Manager 
 Landscape Design Technicians 
 Park & Building Projects Manager 
 Parks Services Manager 
 
 

157



Rutland Centennial Park 
February 18, 2015 CONSULTANTS LTD.

LONG-TERM MASTER PLAN • Grass Soccer Field 

• Multi-Cultural Gardens 

• Public Washroom 

• Universally Accessible 

Playground (600 sq.m.) 

• Full size Basketball Court 

with Lighting 

• Performance Stage 

• Perimeter Pathway Network 

• Open Play Field / Ultimate 

Frisbee 

• Tree Plantings 

• Entry Plaza for Christmas 

Tree  

• Irrigation Improvements 

• Site Furniture 

• Signage 

• Public Art Opportunities 

158



APPENDIX D – Playability – The 5 Elements of Inclusive Play 

Playcore, Inc. 2011  http://www.inclusiveplaygrounds.org/me2/overview 
 
 

 

 

159

http://www.inclusiveplaygrounds.org/me2/overview


Appendix B – Playground Concept Plan 

Approximate park  property line 

160



Appendix C – Character Images 

161



Appendix C – Character Images – Con’t. 

162



Attachment E:  Letters of Support 

163



Rutland Park Society 

 

 

 

 
 
April 9, 2015 
 
Employment & Social Development Canada 
471 Queensway Avenue, Suite 106  
Kelowna, BC   V1Y 6S5 
 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
RE:  City of Kelowna Grant Application for Centennial Park 
 
I am writing on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Rutland Park Society.  The Rutland Park Society 
transferred ownership of Centennial Park to the City of Kelowna in January 2015.  As part of this 
transfer, the City committed to making substantial capital improvements to the park.  A playground was 
removed earlier this year, as I understand; it did not meet current safety standards.  It was also not 
conducive to inclusive or universally accessible play.  The grant the city is applying for would be very 
beneficial to the planned park renovation. 
 
 
The Rutland Park Society is in full support of the City of Kelowna’s grant application to the Enabling 
Accessibility Fund.  An inclusive playground for all ages, all abilities, and all backgrounds will be a great 
amenity for the neighbourhood and the overall Rutland Town Centre. 
 
Sincerely 

 
Todd Sanderson B.A., CPA, CA 
President  

164



165



April 13, 2015

To Whom It May Concern:

As Chairperson for Community Action Toward Children’s Health (CATCH) in the Central Okanagan 
region of the Okanagan of BC I am pleased to provide support towards the application for enhancing 
the accessibility for a new children’s playground being planned for the Rutland Centennial Park. 

A number of years ago I met a mother at one of our local playgrounds who had triplets. One of the 
children required a wheelchair for his mobility and his mother described the challenges she had in 
accessing playground equipment. She wanted her son in the wheelchair to at least be as close to his 
brothers as possible so that he would feel included in their play. She wanted at least the ground 
surface of the access to the play area and the play area itself to be of a material where a wheelchair 
and stroller could be brought close to the action. She wished for the equipment to be safe and 
comfortable and encourage inclusiveness for all children’s needs. 

Since that encounter with that mother I have advocated for all new or improved children’s play areas 
to consider accessibility issues from the onset. I have also encouraged the participation of families in 
helping with the design and needs for not more expensive playgrounds but for designs that 
incorporated the principles of equality. 

CATCH has also had information provided on the LITE (Literacy in the Environment) where children’s 
parks include “actual words” in the design and connects the natural play and literacy development. It 
is essential that the literacy opportunity is designed to fit naturally into the play spaces. I hope that 
our playgrounds in the Central Okanagan can start to highlight this general approach and also use 
interactive elements to promote the importance of literacy for our children. 
When considering the importance of accessibility in our playground design one must also remember 
that the adult parent, grandparent, or caregiver may be the one in need of accessibility to the area. 
This grant for ‘Enabling Accessibility in Communities” would be beneficial in showing the priority and 
need for universal access through the design, layout, and equipment for the Rutland Centennial Park. 

On behalf of CATCH we commend the City of Kelowna for continuing to commit to inclusive 
playground design and equipment. 

Yours truly,

Sharon Shepherd
Chairperson CATCH
Former Mayor City of Kelowna 2005-2011
Former City of Kelowna Councillor 1996-2005

166



R U T L A N D  C E N T E N N I A L PA R K   
I N C L U S I V E  P L AY G R O U N D  
 

167



168



P L AY -  
G R O U N D  
C O N C E P T  
P L A N  

169



* T H E  5  E L E M E N T S  O F  I N C L U S I V E  P L AY  
 SOCIAL / EMOTIONAL 

PHYSICAL 
MULTI-SENSORY 
COGNITIVE  
COMMUNICATION 

 
*www.inclusiveplay.org 

170



C H A R A C T E R  I M A G E S  

171



Date: 

 
April 7, 2015 
 

File: 
 

1405-03 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Jerry Dombowsky, Regional Programs Manager 

Subject: 
 

Transit Bus Advertising Franchise Award 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City entering into a five (5) year Transit Advertising Agreement, 
with Lamar Transit Advertising, with an option to renew for an additional 3 year term in the 
form attached to the report of the Regional Programs Manager, dated April 7, 2015. 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the contract on behalf of the 
City of Kelowna; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council approves a 2015 budget amendment to increase the transit 
advertising revenue base budget by $29,900 with the full amount being appropriated to 
reserve; 
 
Purpose: To award the on-bus Transit Advertising Contract for Five (5) years, with an option 
to renew for an additional three (3) years. 
 
Background: 
 
A competitive RFP process was conducted, and it is recommended that the transit on-bus 

advertising franchise be awarded to Lamar Transit Advertising as the highest scoring 

proponent. 

 
The transit advertising franchise includes advertising rights to inside and outside advertising 
on all full size conventional buses including frame and vinyl advertising products (base 
proposal includes 3 full bus vinyl and 6 full driver side vinyl applications).   
 
Lamar Transit Advertising has held the bus advertising contract since January 1, 2007 
(formerly Obie Media).  Lamar Advertising has the contract for the BC Transit fleet of buses in 
other BC communities and also for TransLink as well as many other areas within Canada and 
the United States. They are a highly qualified contractor with significant experience and 
success in operating advertising franchises. They have strong operating, marketing and 
business plans along with the financial resources and staff required to operate an effective 
advertising service. 
 
Their operating plan includes retaining a local sales office with a Regional Account Manager 
based in Kelowna. They have an aggressive local sales program, a regional client/agency sales 
program and a strong national sales program. Their focus and current majority of their 
business comes from local sales through small and medium size businesses. 
 
 

172



2 
 

 
Advertising revenues from the buses are shared between the six local transit partners based 
on the transit revenue sharing agreement splits. The City of Kelowna bus advertising revenues 
are used for improvements to the City’s transit amenities including upgrading of bus stops to 
meet accessibility standards, the purchase of new shelters and benches, and other changes 
made to increase ridership on the transit system. The current base budget of $88,800 will be 
increased to $118,700 in 2015, reflecting a partial year annualized impact, and to an average 
of $165,000 per year over the remaining life of the agreement to be realized through 
guaranteed annual minimums. 
 
Subject to the free speech provisions of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, and 
those established by the Canadian Code of Advertising Standards, the City has contractual 
control over advertising content with the express right to refuse any advertising it deems to 
be of a controversial nature or contrary to the interests of the City.  
 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Financial Services 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
A budget amendment (2015) increasing revenue is required 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications:  
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
 
Submitted by: J. Dombowsky, Regional Programs Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                  R. Westlake, Director Regional Services 
 
 
Attachments: Schedule A – Contract 
cc: G. Davidson, Director, Financial Services 
L. Evans, Senior Buyer, Purchasing 
 
 

  

173



Guaranteed Minimum Revenue from 
Transit Bus Advertising 

 $-    

 $50,000.00  

 $100,000.00  

 $150,000.00  

 $200,000.00  

 $250,000.00  

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

City of Kelowna 
all partners 

* 2015 revenue reflects partial year annualized impact 174



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11075 
 

Amendment No. 1 to Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund 
Expenditure Bylaw, 2014, No. 10949 

 

 

The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts that the City of Kelowna 

Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 2014, No. 10949 be amended as follows: 

 
1. THAT part of Section 1 be deleted that reads: 

 

“Land for Park Purposes            $  1,000,000.00 

 Road Construction $11,696,485.00 

 Water Mains, Pump Stations & Reservoir Construction     $  4,097,700.00 

 Treatment Plant Construction & Debt Repayment $  5,802,434.00 

 Wastewater Trunks & Debt Repayment $  1,421,582.00 

    

   $24,018,201.00” 
And be replaced with the following: 
 

“Land for Park Purposes            $  1,023,692.00 

 Road Construction $11,696,485.00 

 Water Mains, Pump Stations & Reservoir Construction     $  4,029,379.00 

 Treatment Plant Construction & Debt Repayment $  5,802,434.00 

 Wastewater Trunks & Debt Repayment $  1,466,211.00 

    

   $24,018,201.00” 

 
2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No. 11075, being Amendment No. 1 to Bylaw No. 

Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw, 2014, No. 10949.” 
 

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the date of 
adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 13th day of April, 2015. 

 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 
 

Mayor 
 

 
 

City Clerk 
 

 

175


	Agenda
	2. Draft Minutes - April 13 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	3.1 OSO City of Kelowna Presentation.pdf
	4.1 BL11005 OCP14-0013 310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue.pdf
	4.2 BL11006 Z14-0027 310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue.pdf
	4.3 Stratcona Ave 310 and 320 Report HAP14-0009 DP14-0117 (1).pdf
	4.3 Strathcona Ave 210 and 320 Attachments HAP14-0009 DP14-0117(1).pdf
	4.4 Hwy 33 E 140 Rutland Rd N 145 Report - DP15-0030 -.pdf
	4.4 Highway 33 East 140 Attachments DP15-0030.pdf
	5.1 BL10891 Z13-0032 325 Hartman Road.pdf
	6.1 Amendment 1 to Five Year Financial Plan, 2014-2018 .pdf
	6.1 BL11071 Schedule A 2014-2018.pdf
	6.2 BL11071 - Amendment No. 1 to Five Year Financial Plan 2014-2018.pdf
	6.3 2015 Tax Distribution Policy.pdf
	6.3 Tax Dist Presentation 2015_FINAL.pdf
	6.4 2015-04-20 Report to Council Mobile Food Concession Contract Final.pdf
	6.4 2015-04-20 Mobile Concession Contract Scooters Ice Cream Bid Proposal.pdf
	6.4 2015-04-20 Mobile Concession Contract Scooters Ice Cream Ltd.pdf
	6.4 FINAL - Apr 20 15 - Mobile Food Concession.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - RTC.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - APPENDIX A Long Term MP.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - APPENDIX B 5 Elements.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - APPENDIX C playground concept plan.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - APPENDIX D images.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground - Attachment E Letters of Support.pdf
	6.5 Rutland Centennial Park Playground.pdf
	6.6 Transit on-bus advertising award 2015 report to Council a.pdf
	6.6 Guaranteed Minimum Revenue from Transit Bus Advertising.pdf
	7.1 BL11075 - Amendment No 1 to DCC Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw 2014 No. 10949.pdf

